NO. 707000-3

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

ERICKA RICKMAN,

Petitioner

vs.

PREMERA BLUE CROSS,

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DENO MILLIKAN LAW FIRM, PLLC By: Joel P. Nichols, WSBA #23353 Attorney for Plaintiff, Ericka Rickman 3411 Colby Avenue Everett WA 98201

425-259-2222

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Ericka Rickman (hereafter "Ericka") asks this court to accept review of the Division I Court of Appeals' decision terminating review, designated in part B below.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Ericka asks the Supreme Court to review the decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals, entered on September 2, 2014 (Appendix at pages A-001 - 015) and its denial of Ericka's Motion for Reconsideration on October 17, 2014 (A-016).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the decision of the Division I Court of Appeals below conflict with the Supreme Court's decisions in Piel v. City of Federal Way, 177 Wn.2d 604, 306 P.3d 879 (2013), and Hubbard v. Spokane County, 146 Wn.2d 699, 50 P.3d 602 (2002), and with the Division III Court of Appeals decision in Becker v. Community Health Systems, Inc., ____ Wn. App. ____, 332 P.3d 1085 (2014)?
- 2. Should the Supreme Court Review this case to address an issue of substantial public interest pertaining to the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy?

- 3. Does an employer's termination of an employee after she prevents her employer's law violation constitute wrongful termination in violation of public policy?
- 4. Does the need for the tort for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy exist, despite the existence of an employer's internal reporting system and non-exclusive statutory remedies, when an employee's actions prevent a law violation?
- 5. Should the Supreme Court remand this case to the Court of Appeals to address the "absence of justification" element of the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Factual Background

From August 31, 2004 through November 3, 2009, Ericka worked for Respondent, Premera Blue Cross ("Premera"), as Director of its subsidiary known as Washington Alaska Group Services, Inc. ("WAGS") and later known as Ucentris Insured Solutions ("Ucentris") (CP 178-179).

In mid-September 2009, Ericka learned that Pacific Benefits Trust (PBT), a large association underwritten by Premera, was likely merging with another association, Washington Grocers Trust (WGT), underwritten by Providence. (CP 187, ¶34). Premera would lose PBT membership if the merger happened. (CP 187). Ericka confirmed this information with

Premera's Director of "Small Business Group", Robin Hilleary. (CP 187). Ericka also told Ms. Hilleary that a Ucentris Captive Agent (independent insurance broker) had a client who wanted the agent to look for other non-Premera insurance for his business due to this merger. (CP 187). Ericka asked Ms. Hilleary if it was okay for her Captive Agent to do so. In response, Ms. Hilleary told Ericka Premera was strategizing to retain the membership rather than have agents look outside Premera for insurance for their clients. (CP 187, ¶34). Ms. Hilleary also told Ericka Premera planned to use Ucentris agents to move the membership of preferred groups of the merged associations into associations that were underwritten by Premera. (CP 187). Ericka believed this would be an illegal form of "risk bucketing" (separating riskier policy holders from less risky ones and putting them into separate "buckets" for underwriting) because it would require disclosure of private policyholder information. (CP 187).

When an employee has ethical concerns, Premera's Code of Conduct encourages her to "do the right thing" and to review the circumstances with her "supervisor, the Compliance and Ethics Department, Human Resources, *or* the Legal and Regulatory Affairs Department" without fear of retaliation. (CP 313, 314, 315). Specifically, Premera's Code of Conduct provides:

Reporting Violations and Seeking Guidance

To promote reporting of legal and Code violations, Premera supports an environment of open communications. [...] You may report the matter to your supervisor, the Compliance and Ethics Department or to a member of either the Legal and Regulatory Affairs Department or Human Resources Department.

(CP 314-315). Contacting Premera's Compliance and Ethics Hotline is an option only for those wishing to remain anonymous:

If, for whatever reason, an associate wishes to remain anonymous, Premera has established a Compliance and Ethics Hotline (EthicsLine)[.]

(CP 315).

Following Premera's Code of Conduct, Ericka informed her boss, Rick Grover¹, of her conversation with Ms. Hilleary and of her concern with the "risk bucketing" strategy, saying that using Ucentris agents to move non-Premera membership into associations underwritten by Premera "had HIPAA written all over it." (CP 187-188, ¶35). Ericka told Mr. Grover she thought he should take her HIPAA concerns up the chain of command to make sure everything was legal. (CP 187-188). Mr. Grover dismissed this suggestion, telling Ericka, "There's a new Sheriff in town." (CP 188).

¹ Mr. Grover is Premera's Vice President and General Manager for Ancillary Business and Distribution Strategy at Ucentris Insured Solutions.

On September 28, 2009, Mr. Grover forwarded an email trail to Ericka confirming her concern that Premera leadership planned on engaging in a form of "risk bucketing" that would potentially violate health insurance privacy laws. (CP 188, ¶36). Ericka told Mr. Grover she appreciated him sending the email, and reiterated her concern that the "risk bucketing" plan was inappropriate and possibly illegal. (CP 189, ¶38). Mr. Grover simply replied he was more concerned about "stepping on the toes" of the agent, Drew Butler. (CP 189, ¶36).

For purposes of summary judgment, the trial court resolved Respondent's conflicting testimony regarding the legality of the "risk bucketing" proposal in Ericka's favor. (CP at 16-17).² In written discovery, Premera admitted the risk bucketing plan Ericka discussed with Mr. Grover was illegal:

Identify and describe the date, subject matter and Premera executive, including, but not limited to, Rick Grover, involved in any and all conversations with, and/or complaints by plaintiff, regarding risk bucketing and/or the potential for violations of Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act.

(CP at 67 (emphasis supplied)).

Without objection, Premera answered as follows:

² "[B]ecause this is a Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court accepts [...] Ms. Rickman's deposition testimony that, in the middle of September 2009, she learned [of the risk bucketing plan, then discussed it with Mr. Grover]. Within the month, the concept was abandoned. This is documented in an email string that Mr. Grover sent to Ms. Rickman and others."

Mr. Grover recalls one meeting in which risk bucketing was briefly discussed. The group quickly determined that risk bucketing was not a lawful option for that particular situation, and ended the discussion. Mr. Grover does not recall the date of this meeting.

(CP at 67, (emphasis supplied)).

On or about September 11, 2009, Premera received an anonymous complaint about Ericka through its "ethics hotline" internet link, alleging Ericka was violating Premera's conflict of interest policy by not disclosing the fact that her son "worked" for Premera. (CP 189). Although Ericka's son was an independent "Captive Agent", not a Premera employee, Premera nonetheless investigated the complaint and terminated Ericka's employment on or about November 3, 2009, not for the alleged conflict of interest³, but for "lack of integrity" and "poor judgment". (CP 190). Ericka avers Premera terminated her employment because she expressed concerns that Premera's intended "risk bucketing" would violate health insurance privacy laws. (CP 190-191).

2. Procedural Background

On December 15, 2010, Ericka filed a Complaint against Premera in Snohomish County Superior Court for retaliation and wrongful

³ Even Defendant's own management team provided conflicting testimony as to whether a conflict of interest was a reason for Ms. Rickman's termination. See Rick Grover Deposition Transcript at 127:19-15 to 128:1-13 (CP 83-84) and see Nancy Ferrara Deposition Transcript at 51:2-5 (CP 115), 53:4-11 (CP 117).

discharge in violation of public policy. (CP 390-396). On July 17, 2013, the Superior Court granted Premera's motion for summary judgment dismissing Ericka's Complaint (CP 9-13), specifically concluding Ericka presented no genuine issues of material fact on the "jeopardy" and "absence of justification" elements of the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. (CP 19). Ericka appealed the Superior Court's Decision, and on September 2, 2014, the Division 1 Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's Decision on the "jeopardy" element, without ruling on the "absence of justification" element. (A-001 - 015). Ericka moved for reconsideration, and on October 17, 2014, the appellate court denied her motion. (A-016).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the Supreme Court's decisions in <u>Piel</u> and <u>Hubbard</u>, *supra*, and with the Division III's decision in <u>Becker</u>, *supra*. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). This Petition for Review involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Court of Appeals erred in finding "No genuine issues of material exist as to whether discouraging [Ericka's] conduct would jeopardize the public policy of maintaining and protecting patient privacy interests." (A-012-013). The Supreme Court in Hubbard, *supra*,

announced the importance of protecting employees from retaliation when they speak up before public policy violations occur. <u>Hubbard</u>, *supra*, 146 Wn.2d at 717. Distinguishing the facts in <u>Cudney v. ALSCO</u>, 172 Wn.2d 524, 259 P.3d 244 (2011), from those in <u>Hubbard</u>, the Supreme Court specifically endorsed the survival of the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy in cases like the present one. <u>Cudney</u>, *supra*, 172 Wn.2d at 537.

The Court of Appeals also erred in concluding Premera's internal system "[...] provided an available adequate alternative means by which Rickman could have reported her concerns, thereby promoting the public policy in favor of maintaining and protecting patient privacy interests." The Supreme Court in Piel, supra, cautioned against an (A-015).overbroad reading of Korslund v. Dyncorp Tri-Cities Services, Inc., 156 Wn.2d 168, 125 P.3d 119 (2005) and Cudney, *supra*, in failing to account for a "[...] long line of precedent allowing wrongful discharge tort claims to exist alongside sometimes comprehensive administrative remedies." Piel, *supra*, 177 Wn.2d at 614-15. Premera's internal systems for reporting concerns regarding the protection of private health care information do not preclude its liability for discharging Ericka in violation of public policy after she raised such concerns. As the Piel Court noted, "the tort of wrongful discharge seeks to vindicate the public interest in prohibiting employers from acting in a manner contrary to fundamental public policy." <u>Piel</u>, *supra*, 177 Wn.2d at 612, quoting <u>Smith v. Bates</u> <u>Technical College</u>, 139 Wn.2d 793, 809, 991 P.2d 1135 (2000).

Finally, the Court of Appeals erred in failing to rule on whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment on the "absence of justification" element of the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. The 'absence of justification' element "inquires whether the employer has an overriding reason for terminating the employee despite the employee's public-policy-linked conduct." Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc., 128 Wash.2d 931, 947, 913 P.2d 377 (1996). This element requires a court to balance the public policy concerns raised by an employee against the employer's asserted 'legitimate' interests to determine whether the public policy concerns outweigh the employer's *Id.* at 948-949. To date, this element has not figured interests. prominently in Washington jurisprudence, likely because such factual disputes require trials. See Hubbard, supra, 146 Wn.2d at 718 (dispute over whether plaintiff was fired for reasons violating public policy or due to a reorganization required a trial to determine absence of justification).

1. This Case is Squarely Controlled by Piel and Hubbard, but the Court of Appeals Refused to Apply Piel and Hubbard.

To establish jeopardy, plaintiffs must show they engaged in particular conduct, and the conduct *directly relates* to the public

policy, or was *necessary* for the effective enforcement of the public policy. This burden requires a plaintiff to "argue that other means for promoting the policy ... are inadequate." Additionally, the plaintiff must show how the threat of dismissal will discourage others from engaging in the desirable conduct.

<u>Piel</u>, supra., 177 Wn.2d at 611, quoting <u>Gardner</u>, supra, 128 Wn.2d at 945, (1996) (internal citations omitted).

Ericka's conduct was necessary for the enforcement of the public policy in favor or protecting private healthcare information. No statutory or administrative means of protecting the public policy were available to Ericka because her actions *prevented* a law violation. The statutory private right of action under Washington's Uniform Health Care Information Act (UHCIA) and the administrative process under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) are only available for actual *violations* and suspected *noncompliance* with those laws. *See* RCW 70.02.170(1); 45 C.F.R. §§160.306(a), 160.316, 164.530(g). Further, UHCIA's remedies are limited to actual damages and prevailing party attorney's fees, meaning if Ericka were to file a complaint under UHCIA and lose because there was no actual law violation, she would be

responsible for paying Premera's attorney's fees and costs.⁴ No consequential or emotional distress damages are available. *See* RCW 70.02.170. Additionally, HIPAA's monetary sanctions are available only for actual violations of the law:

Subject to § 160.410 [affirmative defenses], the Secretary will impose a civil money penalty upon a covered entity or business associate if the Secretary determines that the covered entity or business associate has violated an administrative simplification provision.

45 C.F.R § 160.402. Civil monetary penalties imposed by the Secretary of DHHS for HIPAA violations are limited to \$50,000 per violation (*see* 45 C.F.R. §160.400, 45 C.F.R. §160.404, and 42 U.S.C. § 1320d-5).

Filing a lawsuit that would likely be dismissed because no law violation occurred can hardly be said to promote the public policy, especially with a "loser pays" attorney fee provision. Similarly, although the Office of Civil Rights (OCR) may consider a complaint regarding potential law violations, OCR's consideration of a complaint on which it

⁴ The UHCIA civil remedy statute, RCW 70.02.170, provides as follows:

⁽¹⁾ A person who has complied with this chapter may maintain an action for the relief provided in this section against a health care provider or facility who has not complied with this chapter [emphasis supplied].

⁽²⁾ The court may order the health care provider or other person to comply with this chapter. Such relief may include actual damages, but shall not include consequential or incidental damages. The court shall award reasonable attorneys' fees and all other expenses reasonably incurred to the prevailing party.

would likely take no action can hardly be said to promote the public policy.

Even if the statutory and administrative schemes under UHCIA and HIPAA were available for *potential* rather than *perceived* violations, the Supreme Court in <u>Piel</u> clarified that the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy can survive despite the existence of other statutory and administrative remedies. <u>Piel</u>, *supra*, 177 Wn.2d at 616. In reversing the trial and appellate court's dismissal of the plaintiff's case under the jeopardy prong, the <u>Piel</u> Court reasoned that, if the tort could not survive alongside other comprehensive statutory and administrative schemes,

other cases which have recognized the need for a public policy tort despite the existence of statutory remedies would be called into question. See, e.g., Thompson, 102 Wash.2d 219, 685 P.2d 1081 (allowing claim for reporting violation of federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977); Ellis v. City of Seattle, 142 Wash.2d 450, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000) (recognizing claim for retaliation for making safety complaints); Roberts v. Dudley, 140 Wash.2d 58, 993 P.2d 901 (2000) (allowing tort claim under RCW 49.12.200 and Washington's Law Against Discrimination (WLAD), chapter 49.60 RCW); Bennett v. Hardy, 113 Wash.2d 912, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990) (recognizing claim under WLAD). An overbroad reading of Korslund and Cudney would fail to account for this long line of precedent allowing wrongful discharge tort claims to exist alongside sometimes comprehensive administrative remedies. Importantly, neither case purported to overrule anything.

<u>Piel</u>, *supra*, 177 Wn.2d at 614-615. Like the plaintiff's claim in <u>Piel</u>, Ericka's claim survives alongside other comprehensive statutory and

administrative schemes for reporting health care insurance law violations. Additionally, like the cases cited in <u>Hubbard</u>, Ericka's complaints about potential law violations present jury questions on the jeopardy element. *See* Hubbard, 146 Wn.2d at 715-716.

2. <u>Division I's Focus on Premera's Internal Reporting System is</u> Erroneous.

Without deciding whether UHCIA and HIPAA provided available adequate means for promoting the public policy, the Court of Appeals in the present case concluded Premera's internal reporting system provided such means. (A-015). This ruling comports neither with the Supreme Court's decisions in Piel and Hubbard, nor with Division III's decision in Becker. These cases highlight the importance of having a tort remedy to fully vindicate violations of public policy, despite the existence of other robust remedies and mechanisms. See Piel, supra, 177 Wn.2d at 612, Hubbard, supra, 146 Wn.2d at 716-17, and see Becker, supra, ___ Wn. App. at __, 322 P.3d at 1091.

The <u>Becker</u> court rightly relied on the <u>Piel</u> court's recognition of a private common law tort remedy as necessary to fully vindicate public policy where statutory remedies supplement others, reasoning as follows:

Our recent cases faithfully analyzed the jeopardy element in a manner we thought the reasoning of Korslund and Cudney required. We now realize our jeopardy analysis overemphasized the abstract adequacy of statutes and regulations while forgetting the concrete public policy impact of chilling protected employee conduct. This approach tended to foreclose private common law tort remedies for employees any time statutes or regulations provided some means of promoting public policy. But doing so actually undermined public policy enforcement by chilling employee conduct advocating compliance with statutes and regulations.

Becker, supra, ____ Wn. App. at ____, 332 P.3d at 1090-91. For the same reason robust statutory remedies were not dispositive in Becker and Piel, the availability to Ericka of Premera's anonymous 'compliance' line is not dispositive in the present case. Use of Premera's compliance line is not exclusive. Indeed, Premera's Code of Conduct encourages its employees to "do the right thing" and to "review the circumstances with your supervisor, the Compliance and Ethics Department, Human Resources, or the Legal and Regulatory Affairs Department" without fear of retaliation. (CP 313, 314, 315). Specifically, Premera's Code of Conduct provides:

Reporting Violations and Seeking Guidance

To promote reporting of legal and Code violations, Premera supports an environment of open communications. [...] You may report the matter to your supervisor, the Compliance and Ethics Department or to a member of either the Legal and Regulatory Affairs Department or Human Resources Department.

(CP 314-315).

Contacting Premera's Compliance and Ethics Hotline is an option only for those wishing to remain anonymous:

If, for whatever reason, an associate wishes to remain anonymous, Premera has established a Compliance and Ethics Hotline (EthicsLine)[.]

(CP 315).

Foreclosing Ericka's private right of action because she bravely chose the option of going directly to her supervisor rather than calling the anonymous compliance line undermines public policy enforcement by chilling conduct the public policy demands we promote: namely, taking affirmative action to prevent disclosure of private healthcare information. Such foreclosure also over-emphasizes reliance on individual procompliance efforts to promote the public policy. *See* <u>Becker</u>, *supra*, 332 P.3d at 1090-91.

Ericka stuck her neck out in following Premera's Code of Conduct by raising concerns about potential health care privacy violations to her direct supervisor, Rick Grover. Mr. Grover was compelled by Premera's Code of Conduct to ensure Premera's compliance with the law and to protect Ericka from retaliation:

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