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

IV. ARGUMENT FOR DENIAL OF PETITION FOR REVIEW 

A. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With The 
Supreme Court's Decisions In Pie/ And Hubbard. 

1. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Is Based On The 
Analysis Set Forth In Dicomes v. State. 

There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion and 

Pie/ or Hubbard warranting granting Rickman's Petition under RAP 
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13.2(b)(l) because the court's decision (and the trial court's decision) was 

premised on Dicomes v. State, 113 Wn.2d 612, 619, 782 P.2d 1002 

(1989). Rickman does not articulate in her Petition any basis for rejecting 

the application of Dicomes, 4 which requires courts to examine "the degree 

of alleged employer wrongdoing, together with the reasonableness of the 

manner in which the employee reported, or attempted to remedy, the 

alleged misconduct" to determine whether an employee has stated a claim 

for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. !d.; see Appx.-11-15. 

Under Dicomes, the undisputed facts establish that Rickman did 

not reasonably report her alleged concerns: She admits she was ill-

informed about the plan and took no steps to educate herself about its 

details to ascertain the viability ofher purported concerns (CP at 271-74). 

There also is no evidence that Premera engaged in any wrongdoing: It is 

undisputed that Premera did not implement the risk bucketing plan (CP at 

361-62) and there is no evidence that the plan would have been unlawful; 

Rickman offers only her speculative, "gut feeling" in that regard (CP at 

271-72). 

Based on the record and Dicomes' instruction, the Court of 

Appeals correctly held that there is no genuine issue of material fact about 

4 Rickman does not dispute (or even address) the court's application ofDicomes in her 
Petition. 
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whether discouraging Rickman's conduct would jeopardize the public 

policy of maintaining and protecting patient privacy interests. As the court 

noted, Rickman's "[g]uesswork and intuition" do not meet the high 

standard set by the jeopardy element of the wrongful discharge in violation 

of public policy claim. Appx.-12. 

In terms of Dicomes' relationship to Piel and Hubbard, Dicomes is 

still alive and well. This Court issued its decision in Dicomes before the 

Court adopted the current four-part test used for the wrongful discharge in 

violation of public policy tort, but the standards set forth in Dicomes are 

applied under what are now the clarity and jeopardy elements of that 

claim.5 See Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc., 128 Wn.2d 931, 941, 913 

P.2d 377 (1996) and Pie!, 177 Wn.2d at 610 (both citing Dicomes for 

proposition that decisions before adoption of four-part test tended to 

"lump[] the clarity and jeopardy elements together .... "). In adopting the 

current four-part test, however, this Court made clear that doing so "[did] 

not change the existing common law in this state." Gardner, 128 Wn.2d 

at 941. Dicomes therefore is still valid law that provides a method of 

5 To establish a claim for wrongful discharge in violatim of public policy, a plaintiff must 
prove: (1) the existence of a clear public policy (the clarity element); (2) that 
discouraging the conduct in which she engaged would jeopardize the public policy (the 
jeopardy element); (3) that the public-policy-linked conduct caused the dismissal (the 
causation element); and ( 4) that the defendant has not offered an overriding justification 
for the dismissal (the absence of justification element). Korslund v. DynCorp Tri-Cities 
Servs., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 168, 178, 125 P.3d 119 (2005); Cudney v. ALSCO, Inc., 172 
Wn.2d 524, 529, 259 P.3d 244 (2011). 
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analysis of the public policy claim that coexists, but does not conflict, with 

Pie/ or Hubbard. Indeed, both Pie/ and Hubbard cite to Dicomes, but 

neither criticizes the analysis therein. 

As the Court of Appeals noted, where an employee raises a 

concern about potential employer misconduct, as was the case here, the 

court may, under Dicomes, assess the record as to the degree of 

wrongdoing, if any, that the employer would have engaged in, and assess 

the reasonableness of the way in which the employee raised the concerns 

or attempted to remedy the alleged wrongdoing. Appx.-12. The Court of 

Appeals did not err in concluding, under Dicomes, that Rickman has failed 

to establish the jeopardy element of her claim.6 

2. Rickman Is Not Immune From Summary Judgment 
Because She Raised Concerns Preemptively. 

Rickman's assertions in this matter appear to be premised on a 

misperception that this Court's analysis of Hubbard v. Spokane County, 

146 Wn.2d 699, 50 P.3d 602 (2002) in Cudney, 172 Wn.2d at 537 stands 

for the proposition that wrongful discharge in violation of public policy 

claims are protected from summary judgment if brought by plaintiffs who 

raised concerns before a violation occurs. Petition at 7-8. As the Court of 

Appeals noted, "[a]lthough Cudney and Hubbard empower courts to 

6 Further, the Court of Appeals' application of Dicomes here in an unpublished opinion 
does not present an issue of substantial public interest. 
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protect a plaintiff who raises concerns before wrongful activity occurs, 

they do not immunize that plaintiff from an adverse grant of summary 

judgment. Instead, courts must apply the standard in Dicomes to 

determine whether summary judgment should be granted." Appx.-12 n.6. 

Under that standard, as already discussed, Rickman cannot establish the 

jeopardy element of her claim and her Petition should be denied. 

In any event, as discussed further below, the existing protections 

were available to Rickman regardless that she allegedly raised concerns 

before purported wrongdoing, and they adequately protect the public 

policy of maintaining the confidentiality of patient health information. 

3. Adequate Alternative Means Of Promoting The Public 
Policy Exist. 

To establish the jeopardy element, Rickman must show that 

discouraging her alleged report of her risk bucketing concern would 

jeopardize the public policy, and that other means of promoting the public 

policy are inadequate. Korslund, 156 Wn.2d at 181-82. The Court of 

Appeals correctly held that Premcra's "robust internal reporting system"-

shown by the undisputed evidence, including the prompt investigation of 

Lopez's ethics concern against Rickman-adequately promoted the public 

policy of protecting the privacy of health information. Appx.-14-15. 
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Rickman contends that this holding conflicts with Pie! and 

Hubbard, which assessed the adequacy of the pertinent statutory and 

administrative schemes at issue in those cases. She goes on to contend 

that, under Pie! and Hubbard, the protections under UHCIA and HIPAA 

are inadequate because: she allegedly raised concerns before an alleged 

violation such that neither statute applies; she could not recover 

consequential or emotional distress damages under UHCIA; UHCIA has a 

prevailing party attorney fee provision; and monetary sanctions under 

HIPAA are available only for actual violations of the law. First, as the 

Court of Appeals correctly noted, although Pie! and Hubbard analyzed 

statutory schemes, neither case nor any other existing Washington case 

law, mandates that the available alternative means of protecting the public 

policy must "carry the force of law" and subject the employer to liability to 

be adequate, especially where the protective scheme functions as well as 

Premera's. Appx.-13. 

Second, Rickman's assertions about the ways in which UHCIA's 

and HIPAA's protections are purportedly inadequate amount to 

disappointment over the fact that they do not afford her a private right of 

action for retaliation or damages, a proposition this Court has rejected as 

determinative of the adequacy of alternative protections. See Hubbard, 
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146 Wn.2d at 717 ("The other means of promoting the public policy need 

not be available to a particular individual so long as the other means are 

adequate to safeguard the public policy.").7 

Rickman contends that Premera's reporting process is inadequate 

because she believes that reporting her concerns directly to her supervisor 

was superior to reporting her concerns anonymously through the ethics 

hotline or any other mechanism provided at Premera.8 Rickman's 

suggestion that Premera might place less importance on or is dilatory in 

addressing concerns placed online or through the hotline or any other 

available means, is speculative and baseless. Premera's undisputedly 

strong culture of privacy compliance would not be served by lackadaisical 

responses to privacy concerns. If Lopez's complaint is any indication, 

Prcmera responds swiftly to, and takes seriously, even anonymous 

7 HIPAA does provide protection for retaliation. 45 C.F.R. §§ 160.316, 164.530(g); see 
also http://www .hhs.gov/ocr/privacy/hipaa/complaints/(stating "HIPAA PROHIBITS 
RETALIATION" and encouraging individuals to notifY the Office for Civil Rights 
("OCR") in the event of retaliatory action). And, as Rickman acknowledges, OCR 
considers all concerns, whether raised before a potential violation or after a violation has 
occurred. 45 C.F.R. § 160.306(a); Petition at 11. Indeed, OCR's website proclaims, 
"ANYONE CAN FILE! -Anyone can file a complaint alleging a violation of the 
Privacy or Security rule." See Health Information Privacy: How to File a Complaint, 
http://www .hhs.gov/ocr/privacy/hipaa/complaints/( emphasis in original). Rickman's fear 
that OCR might not take up her concern (Petition at 11-12) is speculative and does not 
establish the existing statutory and administrative protections are inadequate. 
8 Although Premera provides employees with various ways to make complaints, some of 
which enable anonymous submission, nonerequires anonymous submission of concerns. 
CP at 314-15. Indeed, Lopez later identified himself to Premera's investigators. CP at 
302-303. 
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concerns made online. Rickman has failed her burden to produce any 

evidence undermining Premera's robust reporting process. 

B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With 
Division III's Decision In Becker. 

Rickman also contends that the Court of Appeals' Opinion 

conflicts with a Division III case, Becker v. Cmty. Health Sys., Inc.,_ 

Wn. App. _, 332 P.3d 1085 (2014). Becker is distinguishable on the facts 

and therefore does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' Opinion and 

warrant granting Rickman's Petition under RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

Becker involved a CFO who was instructed by his employer to 

submit a false and misleading financial statement of the company's 

finances, or lose his job. I d. at 1087. In his role as CFO, the employee 

was responsible for ensuring the accuracy of the employer's financial 

statements. Capitulating to the employer's ultimatum would have exposed 

him to personal liability under a myriad of criminal statutes and 

regulations governing corporate financial reporting. See id. at 1087. Thus, 

the employee refused, and submitted a report to his employer detailing his 

concerns that their proposed plan would fraudulently mislead investors. 

ld. at 1087. He was then discharged. 

Under the unique circumstances presented in Becker, and even 

though the underlying statutory scheme provided comprehensive and 
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rigorous protections, Division III recognized a "narrow exception" to the 

doctrine of at-will employment (see Cudney, 172 Wn.2d at 529) and 

allowed the employee a private right of action under the public policy tort, 

because the employer's instructions had placed the employee in the 

untenable position of being forced to choose between committing a crime 

for which he would be personally liable, and disobeying his employer. 

Becker, 332 P.3d at 1093. In addition, the employee was directly 

responsible for making sure the employer complied with laws regulating 

corporate financial reporting and for upholding the public policy of 

honesty in corporate financial reporting. Effective protection of that 

public policy in large part depended on the CFO's efforts, in particular, to 

comply with the law, in addition to his special responsibilities and 

expertise. Id. at 1094. None of those circumstances are present here. 

Premera did not give Rickman an ultimatum that she violate 

criminal law (and thereby face prosecution) or be fired. Particularly 

compelling to Division III, the CFO in Becker was uniquely situated and 

qualified in that role to identify financial reporting errors and issues and it 

was his job to ensure that the employer's financial records and statements 

were truthful and accurate. Rickman, in contrast, was not uniquely 

situated or qualified as Director ofUcentris to identify HIPAA and 
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UHCIA issues and had no direct responsibilities related to monitoring 

Ucentris' or Premera's programs and business plans to ensure they 

complied with health care privacy laws. Indeed, Rickman admitted "[she 

did not] know actually what [was] going to happen [with the risk 

bucketing plan]" and had just a "gut feeling it wasn't appropriate." Clerk's 

Papers ("CP") at 271-72. Rickman's casual and undisputedly ill-informed 

alleged expression of concern to Grover was not directly related to the 

protection of the public policy that she purports to champion, nor 

necessary to enforce it, in the way the CFO's conduct was in Becker. The 

facts here are distinguishable from Becker and do not warrant carving out 

an exception to the underlying doctrine of at-will employment or granting 

Rickman's Petition. 

C. The Court Of Appeals Properly Declined To Rule On The 
"Absence Of Justification" Element Of Rickman's Claim And 
Its Decision To Do So Does Not Create An Issue Of Substantial 
Public Interest. 

Because Rickman failed to prove the jeopardy element of her 

claim, the Court of Appeals abstained from ruling on the other elements of 

her claim, including the absence of justification (or pretext) element. 

Rickman characterizes this abstention as error, but an appellate court is not 

required to rule on every facet of a claim and should exercise judicial 

restraint if a case can be decided on other grounds. Hayden v. Mutual of 
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Enumclaw Ins. Co., 141 Wn.2d 55, 68, 1 P.3d 1167 (2000) (quoting State 

v. Peterson, 133 Wn.2d 885, 894, 948 P.2d 381 (1997)) ("Principles of 

judicial restraint dictate that if resolution of an issue effectively disposes 

of a case, [the court] should resolve the case on that basis without reaching 

any other issues that might be presented."). Doing so is not error. The 

Court of Appeals' Opinion is unpublished and Rickman fails to advance 

any argument establishing that a substantial issue of public interest is 

presented by the absence ofjustification element of her claim that would 

warrant review by this Court. Her Petition should be denied. 

Instead, Rickman rehashes her summary judgment contentions, 

which include a false assertion that Grover and Ferrara's testimony 

regarding the reasons for her discharge are somehow in conflict. But the 

record shows that Grover and Ferrara gave consistent reasons for 

Rickman's discharge: Rickman's "judgment" and "lack of integrity" in 

handling, among other things, the perceived conflict of interest with her 

son, according to Ferrara, and the "conflict of interest issue" pertaining to 

her son, according to Grover. CP 23, 83:11-84:13, 115:2-5, 117:4-11. 

Rickman contends Premera's reliance on her repeated failure to 

disclose the relationship with her son is pretexual because Vidor was an 

independent contractor, not a Premera or Ucentris employee; she did not 

18 



keep her relationship with Vidor secret; she purportedly disclosed it to her 

first (and now deceased) supervisor, Melton;9 and she kept a picture of 

Vidor on her desk. Petition at 17. But she knew Premera was relying on 

her to disclose relationships she might have with any number of non-

employees. CP at 264. Questions in Premera's Conflict oflnterest 

Disclosure Questionnaire directly apply to the situation with Rickman and 

Vidor. CP at 336-37. Premera's Code of Conduct emphasizes that even 

situations leading to the appearance of a conflict of interest must be 

disclosed. CP at 317. And the Conflict of Interest Disclosure 

Questionnaire explains that conflicts may arise in situations, such as the 

one here, in which the employee could use her position to influence 

decisions in ways that give an advantage to a family member. CP at 333. 

Premera' s conflict of interest process and the associated documents 

undisputedly envisioned disclosure ofthe relationship irrespective of 

Vidor's status as an independent contractor or whether Rickman was open 

about their relationship around the office and to Melton. 

Further, there is no credible evidence suggesting that Grover, as the 

decision-maker, had a motivation to discharge Rickman because of her 

alleged complaint. See Korslund, 156 Wn.2d at 178 (claim of wrongful 

9 Rickman's contentions about what she allegedly told Melton should be disregarded 
because they are self-serving and unverifiable given that Melton has passed away. 
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discharge in violation of public policy is an intentional tort such that

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